THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

RECEIVED
MAR 16 2015
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

HONORABLE SHIRLEY C. ROBINSON, ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE

Case No. 12-ALJ-17-0405-CC
Appellate Case No. 2014-001457

CareAlliance Health Services d/b/a Roper St. Francis
Healthcare,.....Respondent

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue,.....Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Lauren Acquaviva (Bar No.100528)
Counsel for Litigation
Milton G. Kimpson (Bar No. 7917)
General Counsel for Litigation
PO Box 12265
Columbia, SC 29211
Attorneys for Appellant
South Carolina Department
of Revenue
(803) 898-5110
(803) 896-0171
AcquavL@sctax.org
CourtOrders@sctax.org

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN ITS APPLICATION OF THE FIRST PRONG OF THE TEST PROMULGATED IN HOME MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. V. SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, 382 S.C. 556, 677 S.E.2d 582 (2009), BY FINDING THAT THE SALES TRANSACTION BETWEEN A MANUFACTURER AND A HOSPITAL FOR A PROSTHETIC DEVICE REQUIRES A PRESCRIPTION?
- II. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN BROADLY INTERPRETING THE TERM “PRESCRIPTION” AND FINDING THAT A “CHART ORDER” AND A REQUISITION SHEET CAN CONSTITUTE A PRESCRIPTION?
- III. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN ITS APPLICATION OF THE SECOND PRONG OF THE HOME MEDICAL TEST BY FINDING THAT A PRESCRIPTION WAS ACTUALLY USED BY THE HOSPITAL TO PURCHASE THE PROSTHETIC DEVICES AT ISSUE FROM A MANUFACTURER/VENDOR?
- IV. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE HOSPITAL’S “OTHER BONE, MUSCLE, AND TISSUE IMPLANTS” WERE PROSTHETIC DEVICES WHEN THE HOSPITAL FAILED TO PRODUCE ANY EVIDENCE THAT THESE ITEMS REPLACED MISSING PARTS OF THE BODY?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter came before the Administrative Law Court (ALC) in accordance with the Administrative Procedures Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-310, et. seq. (2005) for a contested case hearing. CareAlliance Health Services, d/b/a Roper St. Francis Medical Healthcare, Inc. (Respondent or hospital) filed for a contested case hearing with the ALC to challenge a Department Determination issued by the South Carolina Department of Revenue (Department) denying a refund claim for sales and use taxes paid on the hospital's purchases of orthopedic and cardiovascular prosthetic devices (collectively "prosthetic devices" or "medical devices") and blood derivatives between August 1, 2007, and November 30, 2010. (R. pp. 30 – 42; Department Determination.) Specifically, the Department denied the refund claim because a hospital is not required to have a prescription in order to purchase prosthetic devices and because blood derivatives are medicines subject to sales tax. (R. pp. 30 – 42; Id.)

The parties filed cross motions for summary judgment, and the ALC held a motions hearing on October 1, 2013. Just prior to the hearing on September 27, 2013, the parties filed Joint Stipulations of Fact with the Court. (R. pp. 777 – 780; Joint Stipulations of Fact.) In the Joint Stipulations of Fact, the parties divided the items at issue into three basic categories: 1) prescription reconstructive musculoskeletal prosthetic devices (hips, knees, shoulders, mastectomy reconstructive implants, other skeletal implants, and other bone, muscle, and tissue implants) and prescription trauma musculoskeletal prosthetic devices (pins, screws, nails, plates, and other trauma implants) ("Prosthetics A"), 2) prescription cardiac prosthetic devices (pacemakers and implantable cardioverter-defibrillators (ICDs)) ("Prosthetics B"), and 3) blood derivatives. (R. pp. 777

– 778; Joint Stipulations of Fact ¶¶ 1 – 3.) The parties also stipulated that the hips, knees, shoulders, and mastectomy reconstructive implants replace a missing part of the body. (R. p. 779; Id. at ¶ 7.)¹ The ALC issued its order on May 20, 2014 (Initial Order), finding that the sales of prescription reconstructive musculoskeletal prosthetic devices to the hospital are exempt from sales and use tax, but that the sales to the hospital of the prescription trauma musculoskeletal prosthetic devices,² the prescription cardiac devices,³ and the blood derivatives⁴ are not exempted from sales and use tax. (R. pp. 17 – 19, 21; Order 12 – 14, 16.) Both parties filed motions for reconsideration, which the ALC granted in part and denied in part. (R. pp. 23 – 26; Order Granting In Part And Denying In Part Mots. For Recons.) In the ALC’s Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Motions for Reconsideration issued on June 27, 2014 (Reconsidered Order), the ALC determined there were questions of fact as to whether the prescription cardiac devices replace a missing part of the body and whether the blood derivatives are subject to sales and use tax and thus ultimately denied summary judgment on these issues. (R. p. 24;

¹The question regarding whether the remaining prosthetic devices replace a missing part of the body was a question of fact for the ALC to decide.

²The ALC found “it logical to distinguish between a sale related to a particular individual and a bulk sale to a medical provider” and determined that “bulk sales of prescription devices to medical providers are not ‘sales by prescription’ and are subject to sales tax.” (R. p. 17; Order 12.)

³The ALC concluded that the cardiac devices replace, enhance, or correct the functioning of the heart, not a missing part of the body; thus, it determined that the cardiac devices are not “prosthetics as defined in [S.C. Code Ann. Regs.] 117-332” and, therefore, are not exempt pursuant to section 12-36-2120(28). (R. p. 18; Order 13.)

⁴The ALC determined that the blood derivatives are subject to sales tax because the Legislature did not enact an express exemption for blood derivatives. (R. p. 21; Order 16.)

Order Granting In Part And Denying In Part Mots. For Recons. 2.) The ALC upheld its Initial Order as it related to the prescription reconstructive musculoskeletal prosthetic devices (including the other bone, muscle, and tissue implants)⁵ and prescription trauma musculoskeletal prosthetic devices, concluding that prescription prosthetic devices require a prescription to be sold, (R. p. 25; Id. at 3), that the prescription reconstructive musculoskeletal prosthetic devices were actually sold by prescription, (R. p. 26; Id. at 4), and that the prescription trauma musculoskeletal prosthetic devices were not actually sold by prescription (R. p. 26; Id. at 4, n. 2). The Department filed its appeal of the ALC's decision to the South Carolina Court of Appeals on July 3, 2014.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Respondent is a healthcare corporation comprised of Roper and St. Francis hospitals located in Charleston, South Carolina. (R. p. 31; Department Determination 2.) It submitted refund claims for tax periods ending August 1, 2007 through November 30, 2010, totaling \$5,014,576.76 for sales and use tax on purchases of medical devices (predominantly joint replacement implants and cardiac pacemakers), bone, tissue, blood products, plasma derivatives, and oncology medicines. (R. p. 31; Id.) Of the total refund claim, \$3,055,816.70 was based on the assertion that the prosthetic devices purchased by the hospital are exempt from taxation pursuant to section 12-36-2120(28)(a) as "prosthetic devices sold by prescription." (R. pp. 30, 33; Id. at 1, 4.) Another \$435,368.74 of the refund claim relates to the sale of protein-based medicines derived

⁵The ALC stated the "other bone, muscle, and tissue implants" were "presented to the Court as a 'catch-all' category of devices," and it declined to address those items individually. (R. p. 26; Order Granting In Part And Denying In Part Mots. For Recons. 4.)

from human plasma (blood derivatives), which the hospital asserts are exempt from taxation based upon the application of a products liability statute found at S.C. Code Ann. § 44-43-10 (Supp. 2013). (R. pp. 30, 37; Department Determination 1, 8.) The Department denied \$3,931,402.31 of the hospital's refund claim by letter dated March 24, 2011, and the hospital timely protested this denial on June 20, 2011. (R. p. 32; Id. at 3.) The Department issued its Determination upholding the denial on August 16, 2012, finding that the prosthetic devices and blood derivatives were not exempt from taxation. (R. pp. 30 – 42; Id.)

ARGUMENTS

In an appeal from the decision of an administrative agency, the Administrative Procedures Act provides the appropriate standard of review. Olson v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 379 S.C. 57, 63, 663 S.E.2d 497, 500-501 (Ct. App. 2008); Turner v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 377 S.C. 540, 544, 661 S.E.2d 118, 120 (Ct. App. 2008); Clark v. Aiken County Gov't, 366 S.C. 102, 107, 620 S.E.2d 99, 101 (Ct. App. 2005). S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) (Supp. 2013) provides the applicable standard:

(D) The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The reviewing tribunal may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the Appellant has been prejudiced because of the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;

- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Additionally,

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRCP: summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc., 365 S.C. 204, 219, 616 S.E.2d 722, 729 (Ct. App. 2005)

(internal citation omitted).

Resolution of the issues in this case depends upon the rules of statutory construction and when construing a statute, the cardinal rule is to ascertain the intent of the Legislature. Georgia-Carolina Bail Bonds, Inc. v. County of Aiken, 354 S.C. 18, 22, 579 S.E.2d 334, 336 (Ct. App. 2003). “All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in the light of the intended purpose of the statute.” Id. at 23, 579 S.E.2d at 336. The words of the statute “must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort[ing] to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand [the statute's] operation.” Hitachi Data Sys. Corp. v. Leatherman, 309 S.C. 174, 178, 420 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1992) (internal citations omitted). Furthermore, “[t]he language of a tax exemption statute must be given its plain, ordinary meaning and must be strictly construed against the claimed exemption.” TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue, 331 S.C. 611, 620, 503 S.E.2d 471, 476 (1998) (see also Southeastern—

Kusan, Inc. v. S.C. Tax Comm'n, 276 S.C. 487, 489, 280 S.E.2d 57, 58 (1981)). Finally, “[t]he construction of a statute by the agency charged with its administration will be accorded the most respectful consideration and will not be overruled absent compelling reasons.” Brown v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 348 S.C. 507, 515, 560 S.E.2d 410, 414 (2002) (quoting Dunton v. S.C. Bd. of Examin'rs in Optometry, 291 S.C. 221, 223, 353 S.E.2d 132, 133 (1987)); see also Nucor Steel v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 310 S.C. 539, 543, 426 S.E.2d 319, 321 (1992) (recognizing that where an agency is charged with the execution of a statute, the agency's interpretation should not be overruled without cogent reason).

I. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED IN ITS APPLICATION OF THE FIRST PRONG OF THE TEST PROMULGATED IN HOME MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. V. SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, 382 S.C. 556, 677 S.E.2d 582 (2009), BY FINDING THAT THE SALES TRANSACTION BETWEEN A MANUFACTURER AND A HOSPITAL FOR A PROSTHETIC DEVICE REQUIRED A PRESCRIPTION.

The issues in this case all relate to whether the hospital's purchases of prosthetic devices from various device manufacturers/vendors are exempt from sales tax pursuant to Section 12-36-2120(28)(a).⁶ In pertinent part, this statute provides:

Exempted from the taxes imposed by this chapter are the gross proceeds of sales, or sales price of:

* * *

28)(a) **medicine and prosthetic devices sold by prescription**, prescription medicines used to prevent

⁶It is important to note at the outset that the transactions examined in this case are the sales transactions between the hospital and the device manufacturers/vendors. The hospital is the purchaser of the tangible personal property for use in the delivery of its medical services. The patient in whom the device will eventually be implanted is not a party to the sales transaction between the hospital and manufacturer. The hospital does not make any retail sales of these devices to the patient.

respiratory syncytial virus, prescription medicines and therapeutic radiopharmaceuticals used in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, cancer, lymphoma, leukemia, or related diseases, including prescription medicines used to relieve the effects of any such treatment, free samples of prescription medicine distributed by its manufacturer and any use of these free samples[.]

(emphasis added).

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-910 (2014) imposes sales tax upon the retail sale of tangible personal property in this State.⁷ Prosthetic devices (and blood derivatives) constitute “tangible personal property.”⁸ Therefore, if the hospital’s purchases of prosthetic devices are retail sales, such are subject to tax unless specifically exempted. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-110 (2014) clearly defines the terms “sale at retail” and “retail sale” to include:

(i) sales of drugs, prosthetic devices, and other supplies to hospitals, infirmaries, sanitariums, nursing homes, and similar institutions, medical doctors, dentists, optometrists, and veterinarians, if furnished to their patients as a part of the service rendered. These institutions, companies, and professionals are deemed to be the users or consumers of the property[.]

Additionally, 10 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 117-308.8 (2012) states:

⁷In South Carolina, the seller/vendor making the sale of tangible personal property is liable for the sales tax, but the tax may be passed on to the purchaser. Normally, only the person liable for the tax may make a claim for, and receive, a refund, except that in the case of a purchaser who has paid the sales tax, the seller may assign any right to a refund to a purchaser who has paid the tax. See S.C. Code Ann. § 12-60-470(C)(1)(b) (2014). Here, to the extent the hospital has paid sales taxes to the device manufacturers on its purchases of these items, the hospital has obtained assignments from the manufacturers (the entity liable for the tax) in order to pursue sales tax refunds.

⁸“‘Tangible personal property’ means personal property which may be seen, weighed, measured, felt, touched, or which is in any other manner perceptible to the senses.” S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-60 (2014).

Hospitals, infirmaries, sanitariums, nursing homes and like institutions are engaged primarily in the business of rendering services. They are not liable for the sales tax with respect to their gross proceeds or receipts from meals, bandages, dressings, drugs, x-ray photographs and other tangible personal property where such property is used in the rendering of the primary medical service to patients. This is true irrespective of whether or not such tangible items are billed separately to their patients. Hospitals, infirmaries, sanitariums, nursing homes and like institutions are deemed to be the users or consumers of such tangible personal property and the instate [sic] sellers of these items are required to report and remit the tax due on the sale of such property to the hospitals, infirmaries, sanitariums, nursing homes, and like institutions

Furthermore, 10 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 117-308.3 (2012) adds: "Doctors are the consumers of the supplies, medicines, office furniture and fixtures and special tools and equipment they use in the practice of their profession. Sales of such supplies and equipment to doctors are retail sales and subject to the sales tax." When purchasing items such as the prosthetic devices at issue here, which will be used in rendering medical services to patients, the hospital is the end user or consumer of these items. Thus, the hospital's purchases of prosthetic devices are clearly retail sales.

Since sales of prosthetic devices to medical institutions are considered retail sales when the devices are furnished as part of the medical services rendered to patients, those sales are subject to sales tax unless the sale is specifically exempt. Section 12-36-2120(28)(a) provides an exemption from sales and use tax for medical devices, but that exemption only applies to "prosthetic devices sold by prescription." The hospital's sales transactions involving the items at issue do not fall within section 12-36-2120(28)(a) and thus, are subject to sales tax.

Our Supreme Court addressed the exemption found in section 12-36-2120(28)(a) and articulated standards for its proper application. In Home Medical, the Court stated that “[i]n order for this exemption [prosthetic devices sold by prescription] to be applicable . . . the sale must require a prescription and the device must actually be sold by prescription and the device must replace a missing part of the body.” 382 S.C. at 564, 677 S.E.2d at 587 (citing S.C. Rev. Rul. #03-02 (2003)). The Court sanctioned the use of the following three pronged test to determine when the prosthetic device exemption applies: 1) the sale must require a prescription, 2) the device must actually be sold pursuant to a prescription, and 3) the device must replace a missing part of the body. At issue in the present matter are prongs one and two of the Home Medical test – whether the sale of prosthetic devices to a hospital requires a prescription, and whether the devices were actually sold to the hospital by prescription. Although the ALC recognized these two prongs of the Home Medical test in its orders, (see R. pp. 10, 24; Order 5; Order Granting In Part And Denying In Part Mots. For Recons. 2), the ALC failed to properly apply those prongs to the transactions at issue here.

A. The Sale Of A Prosthetic Device From A Manufacturer To A Hospital Does Not Require A Prescription.

The transactions at issue in this matter involve the sale of a prosthetic device by a manufacturer to a hospital. In order to qualify for the exemption set forth in section 12-36-2120(28)(a), the hospital must first establish that the sales transaction *requires* a prescription. The record is replete with evidence that for sales of the prosthetic devices from the manufacturer/vendor to the hospital, no prescriptions are required. The hospital’s claimed refund must therefore be denied.

The question here is not whether the prosthetic device is a regulated item of the type that requires a prescription in order to possess,⁹ but whether the particular sales transaction between the manufacturer and hospital requires a prescription in order to complete the sale.¹⁰ The Court in Home Medical addressed this same language – “the sale must require a prescription – in the context of section 12-36-2120(28)(a)’s companion exemption for “medicines sold by prescription.” The Court held that “[i]n order for this exemption to be applicable, the medicine must be of a type that requires a prescription, the sale must require a prescription, and must actually be sold by prescription.” 382 S.C. at 564, 677 S.E.2d at 587. The issue in Home Medical was whether or not the sale of over-the-counter medicines could ever qualify for the exemption such that the Court focused on the prong “the medicine must be of a type that requires a prescription.” Significantly, this means that the second prong “the sale must require a prescription” focuses not on the type of item purchased but instead on whether a prescription must be produced in order to effectuate the sale of the item between the seller and purchaser. Given Home Medical, it is reasonable that this same language – the sale must require a prescription – should be given the same meaning when interpreting two contextually identical clauses of the same statute. There are no “over-the-counter” surgically implantable prosthetic devices such that all of the prosthetics here are

⁹The parties stipulated that the prosthetic devices at issue are FDA regulated Type II and Type III prescription prosthetic devices. (R. p. 779; Joint Stipulations of Fact ¶ 6.) This stipulation that these devices are of the type which require a prescription does not then obviate the Home Medical prong that the “sale must require a prescription.”

¹⁰To phrase this question in another way – does the hospital need to produce a prescription in order to purchase the prosthetic devices? The answer to this question is no.

“prescription” prosthetic devices. Thus, this case should turn on whether or not a *hospital* must produce a prescription before making the purchases at issue here. Because a hospital is not required to produce a prescription to purchase a prescription prosthetic device, the claimed exemptions under section 12-36-2120(28)(a) should be denied.

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