(5)

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 12-ALJ-17-0405-AP

Appellate Case No. 2014-001457

CareAlliance Health Services d/b/a Roper St. Francis Respondent,
Healthcare,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

John C. von Lehe, Jr.
SC Bar No. 5719
Bryson M. Geer
SC Bar No. 13606
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
151 Meeting Street / Sixth Floor
Post Office Box 1806 (29402-1806)
Charleston, SC 29401-2239
(843) 853-5200

Raymond P. Carpenter, Esq.
(admitted pro hac vice)
Raymond P. Carpenter and Associates, LLC

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

ARGUMENTS

The central issue in this appeal is whether Roper's purchases of certain prescription orthopedic prosthetic devices from various manufacturers are exempt from sales and use tax. South Carolina sales and use tax law defines the sale of prescription prosthetic devices to hospitals as retail sales. See S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-110 (stating that the hospital is deemed to be the consumer or user of the devices). However, the law provides an exemption for medicines and prosthetic devices "sold by prescription." S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-2120(28).

The sales tax exemption statute does not elaborate further on the term "sold by prescription;" however, case law (as well as Department revenue rulings cited therein) provides that in order to qualify as a prosthetic device that is "sold by prescription," (1) the sale must require a prescription; (2) the device must actually be sold by prescription; and (3) the device must replace a missing part of the body. See Home Medical Systems, Inc. v. South Carolina Department of Revenue, 382 S.C. 556, 677 S.E.2d 582 (2009); S.C. Rev. Ruling #03-2; S.C. Rev. Ruling #11-3; S.C. Code Reg. § 117-332. SCDOR and Roper stipulated that the orthopedic prosthetic devices at issue replace a missing part of the body (except as to the items discussed in section IV

herein), so the primary contested issues in this appeal are whether Roper meets the first two requirements, i.e. that the sales required a prescription and that the devices were actually sold by prescription.

As the ALC noted, "[t]he first two prongs of Home Medical overlap in that they both intimate the same requirement: the sale of the device must require and be made with a prescription for the tax exemption to apply." (Reconsideration Order at 2, R. at 24.) However, the use of the word "actually" in the second prong implies a distinction between the two prongs, i.e. the second prong "implies that there are situations in which a prescription is required for sale, but the sale is not actually accomplished by a prescription." (Id.) The South Carolina tax code does not define the term "prescription," and SCDOR has issued no regulations, private letter rulings or other guidance to taxpayers that would indicate that it means anything other than the plain and ordinary meaning that it is the lawful order of a physician. (See McCrosson Dep. II at 80:22- 83:4, R. at 261:22- 264:4 for discussion of several dictionaries defining prescription as lawful order of physician or something similar.)

Beyond the three requirements set forth in Home Medical, no case law, statute or regulation controls the exact facts in this case; therefore, this is a case of first impression for the courts of South Carolina. As the ALC found, and as is discussed in more detail below, Roper meets all three prongs of Home Medical and thus qualifies for the sales tax exemption at issue. SCDOR fails to specifically identify which of the bases under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610 (Supp. 2009) would support this Court reversing the ALC's decision in this matter, but it argues that the ALC's decision was in error and

thus appears to be arguing under subsection (d) that the decision was affected by an error of law. Roper submits that the ALC made no such error of law.

I. THE ALC PROPERLY FOUND THAT FEDERAL REGULATIONS MANDATE THAT SALES TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN A MANUFACTURER AND A HOSPITAL OF FDA REGULATED CLASS II AND CLASS III PRESCRIPTION PROSTHETIC DEVICES REQUIRE LAWFUL PRESCRIPTIONS OR ORDERS.

A. Federal Law Requires a Prescription.

SCDOR asserts that Roper does not meet the first element of the 3-prong test that the sale must require a prescription. As the ALC determined in her Reconsideration Order, the applicable federal law says otherwise. (Reconsideration Order at 2-3, R. at 24-25 (finding "the prosthetic prescription devices at issue require a prescription to be sold, and they satisfy the first prong of Home Medical").)

The Food, Drug and Cosmetics Act of 1976, under the authority of the Commerce Clause, empowers the Secretary of the Federal Department of Health and Human Services Development to require by regulation that a device be restricted to sale, distribution or use:

(A) only upon the written or oral authorization of a practitioner licensed by law to administer or use such device, or,

(B) upon such other conditions as the Secretary may prescribe in such regulation.

21 U.S.C. § 360j (e)(1).

The Secretary has exercised the authority above in 21 C.F.R. § 801.109(a), which provides, *inter alia*, that a device that may be harmful if not used under the supervision of a physician is only exempt from federal labeling requirements (which would require adequate directions for use), if the device is:

(1) (i) In the possession of a person, or his agents or employees, regularly and lawfully engaged in the manufacture, transportation, storage, or wholesale or retail distribution of such device;
... ; and

(2) *Is to be sold only to or on the prescription or other order of such practitioner* for use in the course of his professional practice.

21 C.F.R. § 801.109(a)(emphasis added); see also Pendergast Aff. at ¶6(e), R. at 763.⁵

Thus, as long as a regulated device is in the hands of a manufacturer (per 21 C.F.R. § 801.109(a)(1)(i)) and is being sold to a hospital on the prescription or order of a physician (per 21 C.F.R. § 801.109(a)(2)), then the device need not be labeled. Conversely, a manufacturer selling a prescription prosthetic device that does not contain adequate instructions for use to a hospital requires a prescription or order of a physician. 21 C.F.R. § 801.109(a)(1)(i) and (2).⁶

These federal regulations are consistent with the legal doctrine known as the "learned intermediary rule," which provides that manufacturers of prescription drugs and devices discharge their duty of care to patients by providing warnings to the

⁵ The South Carolina Pharmacy Code even adopts this federal law on at least two occasions: (1) the definition of a device in S.C. Code Ann. § 40-43-30: "Federal law restricts this device for sale by or on the order of a physician" and (2) the restriction on the sale of devices set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 40-43-86(EE), which states: "Caution: Federal law restricts devices for sale by or on the order of a physician." Indeed, S.C. Private Rev. Op. # 01-4 adopts the federal law in determining whether a sale of total parenteral nutrition ("*TPN*") solutions by a retail home health care business qualify for the sales tax exemption for prescription medicines: "It is the opinion of the department that *sales of ... TPN ... solutions* by XYZ to individuals *are exempt from sales tax ... as medicines sold by prescription since federal law requires that ... TPN solutions be sold by prescription* when sold to the patient."

⁶ Furthermore, if Roper purchased, or a manufacturer sold, prescription prosthetic devices without an order or prescription, such transactions would violate the law. 21 U.S.C. §352; Pendergast Aff. at ¶6(g), R. at 763.

prescribing physicians and need not provide warnings directly to the patients of the prescribing physicians. See Madison v. American Home Products, 358 S.C. 449, 595 S.E.2d 493 (1995); Talley v. Danek Med., Inc., 179 F.3d 154, 163 (4th Cir. 1999). In the context of prescription prosthetic devices, the policy considerations behind the learned intermediary rule and the federal regulations requiring a prescription for sale are the same and serve a similar purpose: physicians are in the best position to know what prescription prosthetic devices are needed by their patients and to adequately advise and warn their patients of any benefits and risks associated with such devices. Thus, the law requires that these devices only be sold upon the order of a prescribing physician, upon whom the law places this legal burden to adequately advise and, where appropriate, warn his or her patient.⁷ As the ALC noted, the "overarching purpose of the regulation is to require a gate-keeper to protect consumers from purchasing potentially dangerous products." (Reconsideration Order at 2, R. at 24.)

SCDOR's primary argument against this clear reading of the federal law is based on the language in 21 C.F.R. § 801.109(a)(2), which provides that a prescription device must be sold "only to or on the prescription or other order of such practitioner." (SCDOR Brief at 16 and 23-24.) SCDOR interprets this language to mean that a prescription device may be sold to both physicians and hospitals without a prescription or order. (Id.) It then claims that Roper's expert, Mary Pendergast, supported this interpretation. (Id.) This conclusion is a misreading of both the law and the expert's testimony. What the law provides, which Ms. Pendergast confirmed, is that a

⁷ The law is also consistent with the testimony of Mary Pendergast, former Deputy Commissioner and Senior Advisor to the Commissioner of the FDA, which is summarized above. See supra, Statement of Facts, at 5-6.

manufacturer may sell a restricted device (a) to a physician, or (b) on a physician's order. 21 C.F.R. §801.109(a)(2). Thus, if a physician is directly purchasing the device him or herself, then a prescription is not required because the device is being sold *to a physician* (thus, it is clearly understood to be a doctor's order). On the other hand, if the hospital is making the purchase, then the device must be sold *on the order of a physician*. (Pendergast Dep. at 55:15- 56:1, R. at 281:15- 282:1) (stating that "you only need a prescription or order if it isn't being sold directly to the doctor because then you have to memorialize that that's what the doctor is asking for, is prescribing, is wanting."). Here, because the hospital (and not a physician) is making the purchases at issue, a prescription or order is required.

SCDOR also argues that because the language in the federal regulation says prescription or order, a prescription is not required because an order could be used. This argument flies in the face of common sense and the interchangeable and synonymous nature of the terms "prescription" and "order." As the ALC explained in her ruling on the motions for reconsideration:

If a distinction is made between "prescription" and "order" in the federal regulation, then no device would ever *require* a prescription for sale—an order could always suffice. Consequently, the first prong of Home Medical would never be satisfied and no devices would ever be tax exempt. Presumably our legislature did not craft the exemption with the intent that it would never apply.

(Reconsideration Order at 2-3, R. at 24-25.)

SCDOR also complains that interpreting prescription and order synonymously would mean that federal regulations always require a prescription for the sale of

regulated prosthetic devices and that would render the first element of the test meaningless as it would always be satisfied. SCDOR Brief at 24. This critique has no merit. The statute speaks to exempting a "prosthetic device" where it is "sold by prescription." S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-2120(28). Home Medical then defines what constitutes "sold by prescription." Home Medical, 382 S.C. at 563-564, 677 S.E.2d at 586-587. The first element of that test provides that in order to qualify, a prosthetic device must require a prescription to be sold. It is established here that federal regulations are precisely why the first element of the test exists. If the FDA does not designate a prosthetic device as a *prescription* device, one that requires a prescription to be sold, then the first prong of the test would not be met. Thus, where an external prosthetic device for a knee or ankle may be a "Class I, which means that only general controls are necessary for the sale of the product" (Pendergast Dep. at 31:10-12, R. at 279:10-12) such that no prescription is required for its sale, then that prosthetic device would not qualify for this exemption. However, because federal law mandates that FDA regulated Class II and Class III prescription prosthetic devices require a lawful order of a doctor for the sale of such devices, then such transactions could not lawfully take place otherwise. SCDOR fails to recognize that the FDA is the only regulatory body that can mandate controls upon the sale of a device such that it "is to be sold only to or on the prescription or order of such practitioner for use in the course of his professional practice" per 21 C.F.R § 801.109(a), as are all the devices in question here. Furthermore, as the ALC noted, it is actually SCDOR's interpretation that leads to absurd results as under its view, no prescription prosthetic device would ever qualify for the exemption. (Reconsideration Order at 2-3, R. at 24-25.)

SCDOR asserts a plethora of other arguments as to why this very clear federal requirement should not be accepted as such. Roper will address these arguments below.

B. The Factual Conclusions Drawn in Home Medical are Not Applicable Here.

SCDOR claims that Home Medical dictates that the items at issue here cannot meet the 3-part test. However, that is not the case. Home Medical involved sales of various prescription devices (such as ventilator devices) and a non-prescription or over-the-counter medicine (enteral nutritional formula). Home Medical, 382 S.C. at 558-559, 677 S.E.2d at 583-84. The Court determined that none of the prescription devices at issue were *prosthetic* devices (i.e. they were not implanted into the body and did not replace a missing part of the body), and, thus, they could not qualify for the exemption. Home Medical, 382 S.C. at 565, 677 S.E.2d at 587. The Court also stated that a Certificate of Medical Necessity ("CMN"), which is a standard form used by Medicare and Medicaid for reimbursement of over-the-counter medicines, was not equivalent to a prescription. The Court did not explain why a CMN is not equivalent to a prescription, but the focus of its holding was that a CMN cannot convert a non-prescription item into a prescription item. Home Medical, 382 S.C. at 565-66, 677 S.E.2d at 587-88. Unlike Home Medical, the parties in this case agree that the orthopedic devices at issue are prescription prosthetic devices that replace a missing part of the body. Roper is not attempting to convert non-prescription items into prescription items via the physician's orders in this case. In addition, neither prescription medicines nor CMNs are at issue here. Therefore, the factual conclusions drawn in Home Medical are not applicable to this case.

C. Roper Agrees that the Transaction at Issue is the Sale between the Manufacturer and the Hospital and that Roper Must Show that a Prescription is Required for that Sale.

SCDOR spends substantial time in its brief arguing that the transaction at issue is the one between the manufacturer and the hospital. SCDOR Brief at 11-14. Roper agrees and has never argued otherwise. SCDOR then argues that "this case should turn on whether or not a hospital must produce a prescription." Id. at 12. As the language "must produce a prescription" does not appear anywhere in the relevant statute, Department rulings or any case cited by SCDOR in its brief, it is unclear exactly what requirements SCDOR is trying to add to the statutory requirements and the 3-part test from Home Medical that govern this case. Under that test, Roper must only show that a prescription is required for that sale between the manufacturer and the hospital to take place; there is no requirement that a prescription be "produced." S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-2120(28); Home Medical, 382 S.C. at 563-564, 677 S.E.2d at 586-587. As set forth above, the law is clear that a prescription is required for the devices at issue here. See supra, I(A).

D. Associated Medical Is Not Relevant to this Matter.

SCDOR also argues that Associated Medical v. South Carolina Tax Comm'n, Unpub. Op. No. 97-UP-447 (Aug. 26, 1997), which SCDOR correctly notes is unpublished, should control the result in this matter. SCDOR asserts that the holding in that case was that the sale of drugs or medicines to physicians did not qualify for the exemption because "the purchases by the doctors did not actually require a prescription. Rather, the Court recognized that doctors have the ability to purchase medicines

without a prescription, regardless of whether one is written." SCDOR Brief at 13. Roper disagrees with SCDOR's interpretation of the Court's decision.

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